SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC01-2113

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 00-8117-CFA

RICHARD MCCOY A/K/A JAMIL RASHID,

Appellant,

-VS-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit In and For Duval County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, RICHARD MCCOY A/K/A JAMIL RASHID

Lester Makofka, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 0156936 24 N. Market Street, Suite 402 Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 355-2700 Attorney for Appellant, Richard McCoy a/k/a Jamil Rashid

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

In this brief, the Appellant, Richard Lee McCoy, a.k.a. Jamil Rashid¹, will be referred to as "the Appellant," "the Defendant," or "Mr. McCoy." The Appellee, State of Florida, will be referred to as "the Appellee," or "the State."

References made in this brief to the Record on Appeal, including references to the trial testimony and other transcribed proceedings, will be designated by the symbol (RA-), followed first by the volume and then the page of the Record on Appeal. References to the Appendix to this brief will be designated by the symbol (AP-).

Statement of the Case

On June 13, 2000, Shervie Elliott, an ABC Liquor Store manager, was murdered during an early morning robbery of an ABC Liquor Store located at 3059 West Edgewood Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida. (RA-I-1-2; RA-11-12) A Duval County Grand Jury, on July 13, 2000, returned an Indictment charging Mr. McCoy

¹The State and the defense entered into a written stipulation regarding the use of the two names of the Defendant in the Indictment, and the explanation thereof to be given to the jury. (RA-II-322)

with first degree murder, armed robbery, and armed burglary. (RA-I-8-10) A second Indictment, returned April 5, 2001, (RA-II-292-294); (AP-I) charged Mr. McCoy with first degree murder and armed robbery. The State filed a "Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty." (RA-I-19) The Defendant served a "Notice of Intention to Claim Alibi."(RA-I-37-38), and then supplemental alibi notices (RA-I-52-53); (RA-II-310-311).

Trial was held in Jacksonville, Florida before Circuit Judge Peter L. Dearing and a jury on May 21, 2001, through May 25, 2001. (RA-VII; VIII; IX; X; XI; XII; XIII) The jury found Mr. McCoy guilty of first degree murder and armed robbery (RA-II-387-390); (RA-XIII-1214-1217). After a penalty phase hearing conducted on June 28, 2001, (RA-XVI), the jury recommended by a seven to five vote to impose the death sentence. (RA-XVI-1488-1491); (RA-III-433). On July 23, 2001 (RA-VI-1026-1051) and July 31, 2001 (RA-VI-1015-1025), Judge Dearing conducted a Spencer hearing. Then, in a written "Sentencing Order" of August 9, 2001, (AP-II) which he read in open court, the judge followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. McCoy to death on the first degree murder charge, and life imprisonment on the armed robbery charge. (RA-III-488-496) A Judgment and Sentence to that effect was entered on August 9, 2001. (RA-III-481-487) (AP-III)

The Defendant timely filed a "Motion For New Trial" (RA-II-399-405), and a

"Motion For New Penalty Phase Hearing." (RA-III-434-436) Judge Dearing denied both of these motions. (RA-II-405); (RA-III-436) A Notice of Appeal to this Honorable Court was timely filed. (RA-III-500). Mr. McCoy remains in custody.

Statement of the Facts

The trial of this case was relatively brief, the evidentiary portion being completed in three and one half days. The State's case centered around four pieces of evidence.

The videotape. First, there was a surveillance video of the robbery inside the ABC Liquor store.² (RA-X-614-622); (State's exhibit 51)The surveillance video, as can be gleaned from the trial transcript as well as from viewing it, was made in very dim light, and the human figures depicted on the video were difficult to see. The prosecutor admitted that the jury could not see the face of the perpetrator. (RA-IX-476) The State maintained that the body habitus of the killer resembled that of Mr. McCoy, and alluded to this on closing argument (RA-XII-1120); the defense maintained that it didn't, and, on closing argument, pointed out portions of the surveillance video for the jury to review which showed that the perpetrator was much larger and more muscular than Mr. McCoy. (RA-XII-1159-1162)

²An explanation of the operation of the ABC Liquors' video surveillance system is found in (RA-IX-599-600), through (RA-X-605-606).

The evidentiary significance of the video was that it showed the time that the perpetrator entered the liquor store (approximately 8:20 a.m.); how long he was alone with the victim in the storeroom where the victim was murdered; (RA-X-621); (State's exhibit 51) and what time the perpetrator left the store. (approximately 8:33 a.m.) The video also showed that the perpetrator acted alone. (RA-X-614-622)

What the surveillance video didn't show was the actual homicide. The murder took place in the store room of the ABC Liquors. There was no surveillance camera operating in that room. Therefore, whatever transpired between the victim and her killer during the twenty five seconds or so that they were alone in that store room is not contained on the subject surveillance tape. (RA-X-621)

The fingerprints. The prosecution also relied on a set of fingerprints found on an ABC Liquors plastic bag (State's exhibit 52); (RA-X-678) in which sales receipts of the store were kept. The bag was found on the floor of the manager's office of the ABC Liquors by Jacksonville Sheriff's Office evidence technicians during their crime scene investigation. The State tried to establish that the customary business practice of ABC Liquors' was to utilize plastic bags of this type internally, and that neither the general public, nor anyone other than ABC Liquors' store managers would customarily have access to these plastic bags. (RA-IX-591-595) ABC Liquors employees testified that plastic bags like the one on which the fingerprints were found

were typically filled with daily receipts by the store managers, sealed, and placed inside a red ABC Liquors sack to be picked up by ABC Liquors truck drivers. (RA-IX-586); (RA-IX-591-595) The drivers would then transport the red sack containing the plastic bags with the receipts from the various ABC Liquors stores to the ABC Liquors home office. The plastic bags would then be re-used as before by the various ABC Liquors stores. (RA-IX-586);(RA-IX-591-595)

After laying this predicate, the prosecutor put on a "fingerprint expert," Richard Kocik, who testified that three latent prints found on one of these plastic bags discovered on the floor of the ABC Liquor manager's office after the crime, matched the rolled ink fingerprints of the Defendant. (RA-X-671-713)

The defense argued, and indeed moved pre-trial, that this testimony was unreliable and should not be admitted, because the State's expert could not say when the questioned fingerprints were placed on the bag. On cross examination, the fingerprint expert conceded that these prints could have been placed on the plastic bag days, weeks, or even months before the robbery. (RA-X-697-698)

Further, the defense pointed out that this plastic bag contained ABC Liquors' name and address, which belied the State's contention that these plastic bags never left the ABC Liquors internal system. (RA-X-636-637) The defense further brought out, on cross examination, that the ABC Liquors "policy" of keeping these plastic

bags in the manager's office for internal use was not written down as a "policy" anywhere (RA-X-631); that several of the ABC Liquors employees in the subject store were relatively new and were likely unfamiliar with this unwritten policy(RA-X-630-631); and that ABC Liquors employees had in the past been terminated for various incidents of non-compliance with ABC Liquors rules and procedures. (RA-X-638-640) Finally, the ABC Liquors District Manager acknowledged that this plastic bag looked liked hundreds, or even thousands, of similar plastic bags circulated throughout the ABC Liquors system (RA-X-629). She conceded that she could not say, under oath, that the subject plastic bag containing the fingerprints had never been on the counter of the ABC Liquor store-a counter to which store customers had access. (RA-X-629-630) Moreover, defense counsel called into question the issue of whether the fingerprint analysis itself was reliable, that it was more art than science, and that the fingerprint analyst based his conclusions on "partial latent prints" which consisted of only a portion of the inked prints which he used for comparison.³ Mr. McCoy explained his prints on the plastic bag by testifying that he once picked up

³After cross examination of the State's fingerprint expert, the prosecutor was so concerned that his expert's testimony was dubious that he asked permission to supplement his witness list, and then bring into court, a second fingerprint expert to bolster the testimony of the first expert. The trial judge denied this request. (RA-XI-845-849)

an ABC Liquors plastic bag some months earlier in a parking lot adjacent to another ABC Liquors store, and that he mailed it back to ABC Liquors after he found it. (RA-XII-1026-1027) Mr. McCoy testified that if the prints on the plastic bag recovered at the crime scene were indeed his, that they were placed on the plastic bag when he was acting as a Good Samaritan months earlier, and not during the course of any robbery and murder. (RA-XII-1026-1027)

Zsa Zsa Marcel. However, it was not the fuzzy surveillance tape or the vigorously contested fingerprint analysis on which the State primarily relied. Rather, the foundation of the State's case rested on the testimony of Zsa Zsa Marcel, a married woman who was the Defendant's lover. (RA-X-743-744) Ms. Marcel testified that the Defendant had, the day after the robbery/murder, confessed to her that he had participated in committing the crimes. (RA-X-747-749)

Trial testimony revealed that six days after the robbery and murder, local Jacksonville news stations broadcast the fact that a ten thousand dollar (\$10,000.00) reward would be offered for information leading to the arrest and conviction of the perpetrator of the ABC Liquors robbery/murder. (RA-X-626) Within an hour and one half of the first broadcast of the reward, the ABC Liquors' district manager, Teresa Johnson, received an E-mail from the ABC Liquors store manager that she had been contacted by a person named Zsa Zsa Marcel, who claimed to have

information about the case. (RA-X-623-626) The ABC Liquors district manager advised the ABC Liquors store manager to refer Ms. Marcel to the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office. (RA-X-625-626)

Zsa Zsa Marcel (a/k/a Zsa Zsa Savoy) (RA-X-776-777) was the State's star witness. (RA-X-742-800; RA-XI-801-837)⁴ She admitted to an ongoing extra-marital adulterous relationship with Mr. McCoy. (RA-X-745-746) She was the mother of a young minor child who was living in someone else's care in another state. (RA-X-778-779) She had other children by a common law husband⁵ with whom she lived in Jacksonville. (RA-X-833) She had a previous conviction for a crime involving dishonesty or false statement, and, at the time of her trial testimony, there were four outstanding warrants for her arrest from the State of Louisiana. (RA-X-743-744) She denied that she knew anything about the warrants.(RA-X-743-744); (RA-X-780) The defense brought into court a witness who himself was in prison in Louisiana, who testified that Ms. Marcel's reputation for truth and veracity in her home state of Louisiana was questionable at best. (RA-XI-983-988) Ms. Marcel admitted at trial to repeatedly lying both to her husband and to Mr. McCoy about numerous matters,

⁴In addition to her trial testimony, Ms. Marcel's deposition (RA-III-556-605) through (RA-IV-606-690) and sworn statement (RA-III-514-527) are a part of the Record on Appeal)

⁵Common law as far as Ms. Marcel understood Louisiana law on the point.

including but not limited to her whereabouts during the time that she was secretly seeing Mr. McCoy, as well as to a scam which she successfully foisted on Mr. McCoy to get him to give her one hundred dollars (\$100.00) for a U-Haul which she told him she needed to use to leave her husband. (RA-XI-808-811)

Ms. Marcel testified that Mr. McCoy told her about the robbery/murder the day after it happened, yet she continued to cheat on her husband and see Mr. McCoy, as lovers, on the sly, every day for a week after that. (RA-X-748-750) She claimed that she was moved to act, after a week after Mr. McCoy's alleged revelation, by what she termed was his "bad attitude." (RA-X-791); (RA-X-836) She testified that she was unaware of the reward when she called ABC Liquors, however she conceded that her call to ABC Liquors was coincidentally made one and one half hours after the first broadcast that a ten thousand dollar (\$10,000.00) reward was offered for the arrest and conviction of the perpetrator of the ABC Liquors robbery/murder. She admittedly asked the lead Jacksonville Sheriff's office detective about the reward on three occasions, ABC Liquors District manager twice, and ABC Liquors security once. (RA-X-791); (RA-XI-836)

The account of the murder which Ms. Marcel claimed had been given to her by Mr. McCoy was grossly inconsistent with the other evidence in the case. First, Ms. Marcel claimed that Mr. McCoy told her that he and <u>another person</u> entered and

robbed the liquor store⁶; that he, Mr. McCoy, had utilized gloves (RA-X-788) and hence there would be no fingerprints; that there were seven shots fired by the "other perpetrator"; and that Mr. McCoy only heard, but did not see, the shooting. She also claimed that Mr. McCoy told her that he had robbed over four thousand dollars (\$4,000.00) in this escapade, when in fact the State's evidence was that slightly over four hundred dollars (\$400.00) had been stolen. (RA-X-623) Despite these blatantly incorrect assertions, Jacksonville Sheriff's Office detectives decided to wire Ms. Marcel for sound and set up an audiotape recording whereby it was intended that she would pump Mr. McCoy for information in an effort to get him to confess to the robbery/murder.

On cross-examination of Ms. Marcel, the defense attempted to explore Ms. Marcel's true motives and biases in implicating Mr. McCoy. First, of course, her checkered past and pattern of consistent lying were explored.8 (RA-X-744) Then the

⁶Which is of course, belied by the surveillance tape which showed one, not two, perpetrators. (RA-X-614- 622); (State's exhibit 51)

⁷Forensics revealed only three shots had been fired. (RA-IX-523-540)

⁸ Ms. Marcel admitted to cheating on her husband (RA-X-798); lying to Mr. McCoy about her intention of getting a divorce (RA-X-800); lying to Mr. McCoy about conversations with her husband (RA-XI-806) and that her divorce papers had already been served (RA-X-800); lying to Mr. McCoy about her close relationship with her sister; and lying that her sister was coming to get her children. (RA-XI-806)

defense explored the fact that she was financially impoverished and that the allure of the ten thousand dollar (\$10,000.00) reward for the arrest and conviction of Mr. McCoy was too much for her to resist and made her testimony suspect. (RA-X-793-795) She claimed that she first learned about the reward from Ken Boston, an Assistant State Attorney assisting with the case. (RA-X-774) She admitted to calling the lead Jacksonville Sheriff's Office detective in this case, Mr. Gilbreath, who told her that the reward was predicated on arrest and conviction. (RA-X-794) Beyond those factors, however, defense counsel tried to cross examine Ms. Marcel about a robbery of a Lee's Chicken restaurant in Jacksonville which had occurred some months earlier and to which she had confessed to Mr. McCoy that she, herself, was the perpetrator. (RA-X-816-830) After objection by the prosecutor, the defense was required to proffer this cross-examination out of the presence of the jury. (RA-X-818-830) The defense argued that this cross examination was designed to inquire as to whether Ms. Marcel was lying about Mr. McCoy and wanted to implicate him in the ABC Liquor robbery/murder for fear that Mr. McCoy would implicate her in the Lee's Chicken robbery. After hearing the proffer, the trial judge refused to allow

⁹Mr. Boston was the Assistant State Attorney who, on July 11, 2000, filed a two count Information in this case, charging Mr. McCoy with second degree murder and armed robbery, offense which the Information alleged occurred on June 12, 2000, as opposed to the actual date the crime was committed, to wit, June 13, 2000.

defense counsel to question Ms. Marcel about the Lee's Chicken robbery, or her admission to Mr. McCoy about her participation in it, in the presence of the jury¹⁰. (RA-X-818-830) The issue was made even more complicated because the defense had subpoened the victims of the Lee's Chicken robbery to court. For it seems that the perpetrator of the Lee's Chicken robbery was an African American female with a grotesque scar on her neck. Ms. Marcel is an African American female with a grotesque scar on her neck. (RA-X-784) Again, quite coincidentally, on the day of her trial testimony, Ms. Marcel wore a turtleneck top to court which covered her scar. (RA-X-784) The trial judge, after hearing the proffer, not only refused to allow defense counsel to question Ms. Marcel about the Lee's Chicken robbery, he also refused to allow an in-court identification interaction between the Lee's Chicken victims and Ms. Marcel. (RA-XI-841-844)

The audiotape. However poor the quality of the videotape, the audiotape quality was considerably worse. 11 (RA-X-757); (State's exhibit 58) It was of very

¹⁰In the same vein, the trial judge refused to allow witnesses to the Lee's Chicken robbery to make an identification of Ms. Marcel, who deftly concealed a distinguishing scar on her neck with a turtleneck sweater.

¹¹We have filed, in this appeal, a motion to have this Honorable Court listen to the audiotape, without the benefit of Ms. Marcel's transcript, on the same audio equipment, and preferably, in the same courtroom as did the judge and the jury in this case. This Honorable court has indicated that it has taken this motion under advisement pending a review of the briefs.

poor quality. (RA-I-47-49); (RA-II-242-266) The prosecutor admitted that "the first part is hard to hear." (RA-V-870). Even Ms. Marcel admitted that portions of the tape are inaudible, especially the first part which was recorded while Mr. McCoy was driving. The court reporter who attempted to transcribe its contents during the pretrial motion hearing without the benefit of a transcript could could discern virtually nothing. (RA-V-875-889); (AP-IV). The same thing occurred when another court reporter listened to the audiotape on the same audio equipment in the same courtroom— but this time at the trial. The trial transcript which the court reporter typed was replete with the word, "inaudible." (RA-X-758-766)(AP-V)

Prior to trial, defense counsel filed a motions to have the audiotape declared inadmissible, because it was largely inaudible. (RA-I-47-49); (RA-II-242-266); (RA-V-866-867) The motions were renewed during the trial¹². (RA-X-741) Defense counsel also objected to the use of a typewritten transcript, prepared by the prosecutor, because it omitted portions of the conversation, deemed portions of the conversation to be inaudible, and because it "misinterprets or speculates about words spoken in other parts of the tape." (RA-V-866); (RA-V-871) The typed transcript was never authenticated by either Ms. Marcel, nor anyone who listened to the taped

At the pre-trial hearing on the Defendant's motion, the trial judge refused to listen to the audiotape until he had the benefit of a typewritten transcript. (RA-V-867)

conversation as it was being made. No attempt was ever made by the trial judge to obtain a stipulation as to the accuracy of the typed transcript, or to obtain testimony from anyone as to its accuracy or authenticity. (RA-V-866-899) After listening to the audiotape, with the benefit of the unauthenticated transcript prepared by the prosecutor, the trial judge denied defense counsel's motion, and deemed the tape sufficiently audible for presentation to the jury. (RA-V-898-899). 13

The judge allowed the jury to hear the twenty minute audiotape, and permitted the jury to utilize the typewritten transcript (RA-II-244-266); (Court's exhibit I); (AP-VI), prepared by unknown persons at the State Attorney's Office (RA-X-756-757). The judge gave the jury a cautionary instruction about the use of the transcript, telling the jury that the transcript "represents in part the state attorney's efforts to transcribe it" (RA-X-757-758)¹⁴ No witness authenticated the typed transcript as being a fair and/or accurate written version of what was on the audiotape. At trial, the jury not only listened to the garbled audiotape, but they were permitted by the trial judge to do so while utilizing the unauthenticated written transcript of its contents prepared by

¹³The judge also denied the Defendant's request to delete from the audio tape astatement attributed to the Defendant to the effect that "if I keep spending money like I'm spending I will have to get some more money." (RA-V-901). The judge found this statement to be relevant and denied the defense's request to omit it. (RA-V-905).

¹⁴It–meaning the audiotape. Emphasis supplied.

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