IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD McCOY,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC01-2113

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

substantial as to deprive the audible portions of relevance.

Martinez, 761 So.2d at 1083.

Obviously, a tape of the defendant confessing to the robbery is relevant. Apart from a videotape of the actual crime, it is difficult to conceive of more relevant evidence in a criminal trial than the defendant discussing the crime on tape. Contrary to McCoy's assertion that the tape was not authenticated as being accurate, Zsa Zsa Marcel testified that the audiotape was a fair and accurate depiction of her conversation with the defendant. (X 755).

In *United States v. Pope*, 132 F.3d 684, 688 (11th Cir. 1998), the Eleventh Circuit held that audiotapes which contained an admission by the defendant that he had committed the crimes with which he was charged was admissible. Pope contended that the tapes were inadmissible because the inaudible sections of the tapes rendered them unreliable. The Court explained that it is only if the inaudible or unintelligible portions are so substantial as to render the whole recording untrustworthy that the tape should be excluded. After listening to the tapes itself, the Eleventh Circuit determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the tapes.

McCoy's reliance on *Carter v. State*, 254 So.2d 230 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971) and *Springer v. State*, 429 So.2d 808 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), is misplaced. Both cases held that the admission of almost totally inaudible tape was reversible error. In *Carter*, something was wrong with the recording device and a great deal of background noise obliterating much of the conversation. The

State made several copies of the tape attempting to filter out the background noise; however, only the original recording was admitted into evidence. Here, by contrast, the inaudible portions are explained by the conditions under which the tape was made. Defense counsel admitted that audibility of the tape depended on the quality of the equipment, not the tape itself. Springer involved almost total inaudibility rather than partial inaudibility.

Harmless Error

The error, if any, was harmless. Marcel testified at trial regarding to content of the conversation. Holland v. State, 773 So.2d 1065, 1072-3 (Fla. 2000)(holding that the trial court erred in admitting the videotape because inaudible portions of the tape which encompassed most, if not all, of defendant's statements, were so substantial as to deprive the remainder of relevance and explaining that audible portion were the questions by the interrogating detective improperly allowed the jury to speculate regarding defendant' answers, but finding error harmless because the interrogating detective testified regarding Moreover, McCoy testified at trial and the interrogation). admitted that he made the statement about being at the ABC Liquors store and admitted that he told Marcel that he robbed the store. His explanation was that he was trying to impress her. Thus, the error, if any, was harmless.

ISSUE II

DID TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE JURY TO USE THE TRANSCRIPTS PREPARED BY THE PROSECUTOR AS AN AID? (Restated)

McCoy asserts that the trial court erred in allowing the jury to use a transcript prepared by the prosecutor as an aid because transcript was inaccurate. The State the respectfully disagrees. First, this issue is not preserved. Defense counsel did not prepare his own version of the disputed transcript. If a defendant disputes the accuracy of the prosecution's version, he must prepare his own transcript to preserve the issue for appeal. Moreover, the trial court properly instructed the jury that the evidence was the actual tape, not the transcripts. The trial court informed the jury that the transcript were merely a demonstrative aid. Thus, the trial court properly allowed the jury to use the transcripts as anaid.

The trial court's ruling

Defense counsel filed a pretrial motion in limine to exclude the audiotape due to their partial inaudibility. (R. I 47-48). The trial court held a hearing on the motion (R. V 866). Defense counsel argued that large portions of the tape were inaudible and the transcript was inaccurate. The prosecutor explained that the tape was of a wire worn by a prosecution witness, Zsa Zsa Marcel. (V. 869). The prosecutor explained that the first part of the tape was hard to hear because the car engine was running and the car radio was playing. (870). Defense counsel noted the audibility of the tape depended on the quality of the equipment, the trial court had good equipment

but, if played on poor equipment, much more of the tape was inaudible. (V 872-873). The trial court listened to the tape. (V. 875). The defendant said that he did not think they had anything on him or they would have arrested him. (881). McCoy discusses the statute of limitation in response to her concern about a life of crime. McCoy denied shooting the woman. (885). Defense counsel argued that too much of the tape was inaudible for it to be admissible and that the tape was inaudible both before the confession to being inside the ABC Liquors store and after which deprived the statement of context. (V. 893,897). The trial court ruled that the tape was admissible with certain conditions regarding the transcript. (898). The trial court concluded that the tape would be of benefit to the trier of fact. (898). The trial court noted that, of course, defense counsel could argue that the transcript was inaccurate to the jury and agreed to instruct the jury that it is the tape itself that is evidence, not the transcript. (899). The prosecutor proposed a jury instruction regarding the use of the transcript. (899). The instruction explained that the transcript was solely an aid and that it was the tape that was the actual evidence and that if there was any conflict between the two, the jury should rely on the tape. (R. II 289). The trial court instructed the jury that the transcript was an aid, not evidence during the trial. (T. X 757). At trial, prior to the prosecutor playing the audiotapes for the jury, defense counsel renewed his objection. (X 741). Zsa Zsa Marcel testified that the audiotape was a fair and accurate depiction of her conversation with the

defendant.(X 755). She testified that she helped prepare the transcript. (X 756).

Preservation

This issue is not preserved. Defense counsel did not prepare his own version of the disputed transcript. If a defendant disputes the accuracy of the prosecution's version, he must prepare his own transcript to preserve the issue for appeal. Cf. United States v. Rosenthal, 793 F.2d 1214, 1237-1238 (11th Cir. 1986) (explaining that if an official transcript which satisfies both parties cannot be produced, then each party should produce its own version of a transcript or its version of the disputed portions because if the government's translation was inaccurate, it was petitioner's burden to challenge its accuracy by presenting another translation, so that the jury could choose which version to believe citing United States v. Llinas, 603 F.2d 506, 509 (5th Cir. 1979) and finding no merit to claim that government's transcript was inaccurate because the defendant did not offer a transcript containing a different version of the conversation); Garrett v. State, 639 S.W.2d 18, 20 (Tx. App. 1982) (holding that transcripts are admissible relying on United States v. Onori, 535 F.2d 938 (5th Cir. 1976) and finding no error where portions of the tape recording were inaudible because defendant had opportunity to submit his own version but chose not to do so). McCoy needed to prepare his own version of the disputed tape to preserve this issue for appeal.

Standard of Review

The standard of review is abuse of discretion. *United States* v. *Possick*, 849 F.2d 332, 339 (8th Cir. 1988)(use of demonstrative devices, such as charts, to aid the jury is well within the court's discretion); *Hunt v. State*, 746 So.2d 559, 561 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(using abuse of discretion standard in permitting use of the transcript as an aid and holding that where the trial court instructed the jury that the transcripts were merely an aid, not the actual evidence, it was not error). Merits

A transcript of a recorded conversation is not the evidence; rather, it is merely an aid to the jury. Martinez v. State, 761 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 2000). In Martinez v. State, 761 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 2000), this Court explained that when there is no stipulation as to the accuracy of the transcripts, trial courts should give a cautionary instruction to the jury regarding the limited use to be made of the transcript. This Court suggested the following instruction:

This transcript is not admitted and won't be admitted into evidence. The evidence is what's on the tape recording. If there's a conflict between what the transcript says and what you hear the tape says, the evidence is the tape, not the transcript and if you're--if you hear a conflict, what's on the tape is what the evidence is.

Martinez, 761 So.2d at 1086 quoting Macht, 642 So.2d at 1138. Here, the trial court properly instructed the jury that the transcript was an aid, not evidence during the trial. (T. X 757)⁶.

The committee proposed a new instruction governing the use of transcripts as this Court suggested in footnote 7 of Martinez. In re: Standard Jury Instructions In Criminal Cases--Submission 2001-1, 2002 WL 926073 (Fla. May 9, 2002).

McCoy argues that the trial court did not attempt to get the parties to stipulate to the transcript but the fact that defense counsel filed a motion claiming that the transcript was inaccurate was proof that he would not agree to stipulate to the prosecutor's transcript. While the caselaw encourages trial courts to obtain stipulations to transcripts, that is simply not realistic in hotly disputed capital cases. Moreover, while not "ideal" or the most "preferred method" using transcripts that are not stipulated to by defense counsel, is not error. Martinez, 761 So.2d at 1085.

Moreover, while the court reporter is required to transcribe the contents of the tapes as they are played at trial, the court

The new instruction on the use of transcripts, adopted by this Court, provides:

You are about to hear recorded conversations. These recorded conversations are proper evidence and you may consider them just as any other evidence. You are also being furnished transcripts of the recorded conversations. The recordings are the evidence and the transcripts are provided to you only as a guide to help you follow as you listen to the recordings. The transcripts are not evidence of what was actually said or who said it. If you notice any difference between what you hear on the recordings and what you read in the transcripts, you must rely on what you hear not what you read.

While not exactly the same language, the trial court's instruction in this case is substantially the same as the new standard instruction. The new instruction was adopted on May 2002 and this trial was held in May, 2001. Thus, the new instruction was not available at the time of the trial. Moreover, as the *Martinez* Court noted, the failure to give a transcript instruction is not fundamental error. *Martinez*, 761 So.2d at 1088.

reporter's transcript of the tape does not establish the inaccuracy of the transcript or the tape's audibility. Martinez, 761 So.2d at 1087, citing Lawrence v. State, 632 So.2d 1099, 1100 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). McCoy does not explain which words in the prosecutor's version are inaccurate or what he believes to be a correct translation of those words would be.

McCoy asserts that the transcript was not authenticated. IB at 24. Marcel testified that she helped prepare a transcript of the tape (X 756). This is sufficient authentication. If defense counsel wished to cross-examine her regarding the circumstances of the preparation of the transcript, he was free to do so. IB at 28. There is no requirement that the person who prepares the transcript also authenticate it. *Hunt v. State*, 746 So.2d 559, 561(Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

McCoy claims that the trial court stamped the transcript with a "badge of reliability" by informing the jury that the prosecutor's office prepared the transcript. However, contrary to this claim, if the trial court had not informed that the transcript was prepared by the prosecutor's office, the jury naturally would have thought that the transcript was an "official" transcript. The trial court merely told the jury the truth. Defense counsel had the opportunity to argue that one of the parties prepared the transcript. Moreover, McCoy does not explain what other options the trial court had.

<u>Harmless Error</u>

The error, if any, is harmless. McCoy testified at trial and admitted to making the most damaging statement on the tape. He

admitted that he stated that he was at the ABC Liquors store. His explanation was that he was trying to impress Marcel.

ISSUE III

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACOUITTAL? (Restated)

McCoy contends that the trial court erred by denying the motion for judgment of acquittal. McCoy asserts that the State did not rebut his defense that the fingerprints were placed on the ABC receipt bag at another time and place than the time of the crime. The State respectfully disagrees. This is a direct evidence case. There is both a partial confession and a "silent" eyewitness. The State is not required to rebut a reasonable hypothesis of innocence in a direct evidence case. Furthermore, the State did rebut McCoy's hypothesis that his fingerprints got on the receipt bag when he picked the bag up in the parking lot of another ABC store by presenting the testimony of ABC employees describing the handling of these bags. receipt bags were not left in parking lots. Moreover, fingerprints, alone, when they are located on an item that is inaccessible to the public, are sufficient evidence of quilt to sustain a conviction. However, in this case there is additional evidence including a partial confession. The evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction and therefore, the trial court properly denied the judgment of acquittal.

The trial court's ruling

After the State rested, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal. (XI 908). Defense counsel argued that there was insufficient evidence of premeditation. Defense counsel asserted that the State failed to rebut the reasonable hypothesis that the killing resulted from a struggle. Defense

counsel also asserted that there was insufficient evidence of robbery. Defense counsel claimed that there was insufficient evidence of identity as well. The trial court denied the motion. (XI 909). At the close of all the evidence, defense counsel renewed his judgment of acquittal arguing that the testimony now explained the defendant's fingerprints. (XII 1104). Defense counsel argued that it was a circumstantial evidence case that was insufficient to send to the jury. The trial court denied the motion. (XII 1104).

Preservation

This issue is preserved. Defense counsel made a motion for judgment of acquittal on the same grounds raised on appeal. Although not required, he renewed his motion at the close of all the evidence. Morris v. State, 721 So.2d 725(Fla. 1998)(holding a defendant was not required to renew a motion for judgment of acquittal at close of all evidence in order to preserve denial of motion on appeal; rather, the issue is preserved if the defendant makes a motion at close of State's case). Thus, the issue is preserved.

Actually, here, McCoy was required to renew his judgment of acquittal motion because his hypothesis of innocence was not presented until the defense case. While the State's failure to prove an essential element of the offense may be fundamental error, the State's failure to rebut a reasonable hypothesis is not fundamental error. In other words, hypothesis may not be presented for the first time on appeal. Hypothesis are usually fact based and appellate courts are not the appropriate forum to develop facts. If the hypothesis is presented for the first time on appeal, the State loses its one opportunity to rebut the hypothesis. Reasonable hypothesis of innocence must be presented in the trial court to give the prosecutor notice of the defense and an opportunity to rebut it.

The standard of review

The standard of review of a motion for a judgment of acquittal is de novo. Pagan v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S299, 2002 WL 500315, *5 (Fla. April 4, 2002)(stating that the de novo standard of review applies to appellate review for a motion for judgment of acquittal); Jones v. State, 790 So.2d 1194 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001)(en banc)(holding that the standard of review of a motion for a judgment of acquittal is de novo and receding from prior cases which had held that the standard was abuse of discretion). However, an appellate court does not review the jury's verdict under this standard; it merely reviews the judge's decision to send the case to the jury.8

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